ROBIN LEE ARCHER, 

Appellant, 

V. CASE NO. 78,701 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Appellee. 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT 
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, 

IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA 

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT 

NANCY A. DANIELS 
PUBLIC DEFENDER 
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 

DAVID A. DAVIS 
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET 

(904) 488-2458 
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT 
FLA. BAR NO. 271543

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I 

THE COURT ERRED IN ARCHER'S MOTION 
FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL BECAUSE THE MURDER 
OF COKER WAS AN ACT INDEPENDENT OF THE AGREED 
UPON PLAN TO KILL WELLS. 

ISSUE I1 

THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AND 
IN FINDING THAT ARCHER COMMITTED THIS MURDER 
IN AN ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND 
CRUEL MANNER. 

ISSUE I11 

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THIS MURDER TO 

AND PREMEDITATED MANNER. 
HAVE BEEN COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, 

ISSUE IV 

THE COURT ERRED IN CONVERTING SEVERAL OF THE 
STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS INTO 
NONENUMERATED AGGRAVATION. 

CONCLUSION 

PAGE(S) 

i 

ii 

1 

2 

4 

a 

10 

10 

16 

22  

2 4  

27 

27 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 



TABLE OF CITATIONS 

CASES 

Amoros v.  S t a t e ,  5 3 1  So.2d 1256 ( F l a .  1 9 8 8 )  

Barclay v.  State, 470 So.2d 691 ( F l a .  1 9 8 5 )  

Brown v. S t a t e ,  526 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1983) 

Bryant v. Sta te ,  412 S o . 2 d  347 ( F l a .  1 9 8 2 )  

Campbell  v. State, 571 So.2d 415 ( F l a .  1990) 

Cheshire v. State, 568  So.2d 908 (Fla, 1990) 

Harvey v. S t a t e ,  529 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988) 

L e w i s  v.  S t a t e ,  377 So.2d 640  ( F l a .  1 9 7 7 )  

Mikenas v. S t a t e ,  367 So.2d 6 0 6  (Fla. 1979) 

Omelus v. S t a t e ,  584  So.2d 563  ( F l a .  1 9 9 1 )  

Parker v. S t a t e ,  458 So.2d 7 5 0  (Fla. 1 9 8 4 )  

Santos v.  S t a t e ,  Case No. 7 4 , 4 6 7  ( F l a .  September 
26, 1 9 9 1 )  16  FLW S633 

S t a t e  v.  Dixon, 283  So.2d 1 (Fla. 1 9 7 2 )  

S w a f f o r d  v. S t a t e ,  533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1 9 8 8 )  

Tefteller v. S t a t e ,  439 So.2d 8 4 0  (Fla. 1983) 

STATUTES 

PAGE(S) 

18 

25 

1 7  , 18 
1 1 , 1 3  , 1 4  

25 

1 9  

18,19 

18 

24,25 

1 9  , 21 
12,13 

1 9  

16 

1 8 , 1 9  

17 

Section 9 2 1 . 1 4 1 ( 5 ) ( h ) ,  Florida Statutes 17 



ROBIN LEE ARCHER, 

Appellant, 

V. 

STATE OF FLORIDA, 

Appellee. 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 78,701 

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

This case presents the unusual issue of whether a 

defendant can be h e l d  l i a b l e  for the  murder of a person he d i d  

not  i n t e n d  to k i l l .  The defendant is Robin Archer, and t h e  

record on appeal consists of five volumes, and references to it 

will be by the u s u a l  "T". 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Escambia 

County on February 26, 1991 charged Robin Archer, Larry 

Fordham, Clifford Barth, and James Bonifay w i t h  one count of 

first degree murder, one count of armed robbery, and one count 

of grand theft (T 489- 90) .  Archer proceeded to trial before 

judge Lacey Collier, and he was found guilty as charged on all 

of the counts (T 512-13). 

The jury t h e n  heard further evidence, argument and 

instructions regarding the sentence they should recommend, and 

after deliberating, they returned a death recommendation by a 

vote of 7-5 (T 521). The court followed that advice and 

sentenced Archer to death. In aggravation, it found, 

1. The murder was committed during the 
course of a robbery. 

2. It was especially heinous, atrocious, 
and cruel. 

3 .  It was committed in a cold, calculated, 
and premeditated manner without any pretense 
of legal or moral justification (T 543-45). 

In mitigation, the court found t h a t  Archer had no 

significant history of prior criminal activity, although he had 

used illegal drugs for much of his life. It also held that the 

defendant had been a loving son to his parents and a good 

family member to other relatives and his girlfriend (T 546). 

The court departed from the recommended guideline 

sentences on the remaining two counts, sentencing Archer to 

life in prison for the armed robbery and five years in prison 
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for  the grand theft conviction. All sentences are to r u n  

consecutive to one another (T 567-68). 

This appeal follows. 
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

Most of the facts presented here come from the state's 

star witness, Patrick Bonifay, who was also a co-defendant with 

Archer. His version of what happened was seriously challenged 

by other witnesses, and where his story varies with what others 

claimed happened, the differences will be indicated either in a 

footnote or at the end of the facts. 

Robin Archer, the defendant in this case, had worked at 

one of the several Trout A u t o  Parts stores in Pensacola from 

November 1989 until March 1990 (T 174). In that latter month, 

Timothy Eaton, the general manager for the several stores fired 

Archer, and another employee, Daniel Wells, may have had 

something to do with the lay off (T 129). It is not known what 

the defendant did for the next several months, but in October 

he attended a motorcycle school in Daytona Beach (T 275). He 

returned on January 13, 1991, and because he did n o t  have any 

money or a job he stayed with several friends and relatives 

over the next several weeks (T 213, 276), and his girl friend 

also supported him (T 278). 

On Thursday 24 January, Bonifay claimed Archer, who was 

his cousin (T 126), asked him to kill Wells because he had been 

instrumental in getting him fired from Trout Auto Parts (T 129, 

174). He showed Bonifay a suitcase full of money, estimated at 

$500,000,  which the defendant said would be his if he did what 
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he asked.' Archer told his cousin to make the murder look like 

a robbery by taking the money from the cash till and the drop 

boxes used by the employees from the other stares to deposit 

receipts at the end of the day (T 126), He also warned him 

about the security camera at the store. 

The next night Bonifay and two other men, Clifford Barth 

and Eddie Fordham, drove to the W Street branch of Trout Auto 

Parts. While the two other men waited in the car, Bonifay 

walked up to the night counter and asked Wells, who was the 

clerk, for  a car part, Wells turned his back to Bonifay and 

heard him cock the gun (T 181).2 

but returned to the car instead, and the trio drove away. 

Bonifay did not shoot Wells 

On Saturday, Bonifay told Archer that he did not want to 

kill anyone, b u t  the defendant threatened to hurt the 

co-defendant's mother and girlfriend if he did not go through 

with the murder (T 130).3 

Fordham returned to the par t s  store that night. Wells, 

however, was not the clerk. Instead, Wayne Coker was filling 

in for  him because Wells was sick (T 181). 

Bonifay relented and he, Barth, and 

'No one else ever saw the money (T 218), nor did Bonifay 
mention any payment by the defendant when first questioned by 
the police (T 251). 

2Bonifay denied cocking the gun (T 152) even though Barth 
testified that Bonifay did not kill Wells on Friday because he 
had heard the gun being cocked (T 205). 

until he testified at the defendant's trial (T 162). 
3Bonifay never revealed the threat Archer allegedly made 

a 
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Bonifay and Barth went to the night window, and the latter 

grabbed Bonifay by the arm causing him ta shoot Coker in the 

back (T 131)*. 

took the gun and shot him again (T 132). 

Noticing that the clerk was still alive, Barth 
5 

The two boys climbed through the window, and Bonifay heard 

Coker say "something about some kids or something." Bonifay 

told him to be quiet (T 132).6 

night box and took the receipts and other money they could 

find. Then, according to Bonifay, Barth told him that Coker 

was still alive, and he should kill him (T 132). So, Bonifay 

shot Coker two more times in the head (T 133), killing him 

(T 233). 

The pair cut the locks off the 

The two young men got back into Fordham's car and sped 

away. They eventually stopped, threw away the checks, and 

divided the money three ways (T 161). 

When Bonifay saw Archer the next day, the latter was 

giggling, and he refused to pay him because he had shot the 

wrong person (T 135). Bonifay did nothing because he was 

afraid of Archer (T 136). 

4Barth denied grabbing Bonifay (T 207). 

'Which Barth denied (T 207). 

6According to Barth, Coker asked Bonifay not to "shoot him 
no more because he had kids and a wife, and he wouldn't say 
nothing to the police." Bonifay told him to "shut the fuck up 
and fuck your kids." (T 455) 
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Although Archer had been fired from Trout Auto Parts, he 

would often visit friends who worked at one of the stores (not 

the one involved in this case), In particular, on January 26, 

he had stopped and talked with Ed Bird, and he stayed initially 

until 8 or 9 p.m. (T 279) He left briefly to take his 

girlfriend home from work, but returned about 10 o'clock as 

Bird was closing up f o r  the night (T 2 8 0 ) .  He rode with Bird 

to the W Street store (where the murder would occur in a couple 

of hours) so his friend could make the night deposit (T 283). 

While waiting for B i r d  to return, he saw Wayne Coker. 

Shortly thereafter, the two men said good night, and 

Archer went to his cousin's apartment where he was living. 

When he got there, his relative told him that he was going to 

spend the night with his girlfriend, so Archer decided to bring 

his girlfriend to the apartment to stay with him (T 284). He 

drove past the W Street auto parts store and noticed several 

police cars (T 2 8 5 ) .  

The next night Archer heard about the robbery/murder, and 

he told his cousin that Bonifay might have committed the crimes 

because the latter had questioned him earlier about the drop 

box, and Archer had told him how he could break into the store 

and steal the money in the box (T 286-87 355-56). While the 

defendant may have told his cousin how he could commit this 

crime, he never told him to do it (T 2 8 8 ) ,  
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Archer presents one  guilt and three sentencing issues. In 

the first issue, he argues that the trial court erred in 

denying his motion for a judgment of acquittal because there 

was insufficient evidence that he intended to have Wayne Coker, 

the victim, murdered. That is, he ostensibly was willing to 

pay Patrick Bonifay $500,000 to kill David Wells. Bonifay, 

instead, killed Coker. What he did was an independent act, 

beyond the agreement he and Archer had reached. The defendant, 

therefore, cannot be held liable for what Bonifay did. 

In sentencing Archer to death, the court found that he 

committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, and 

cruel manner. That was error for two reasons. First, the 

murder was not the type for which this aggravating factor  has 

been found to apply. It was a simple killing in which the 

victim suffered no prolonged mental or physical torture. 

Second, this court has recently held that this aggravator 

does not apply to defendants who may be guilty of the murder, 

but who were also not present when the killing occurred and who 

did not intend the victim to s u f f e r  needlessly. 

For the same reasons that the court erred in denying 

Archer's motion for a Judgment of Acquittal, the court erred in 

finding that the defendant committed the murder in a cold, 

calculated, and premeditated manner without any moral or legal 

justification. That is, Archer coldly planned Wells' death, 

not Cokers', and beyond the planning involved in the former's 
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death, there is nothing to show that Archer personally planned 

to kill Coker. 

In i ts  sentencing order, the court rejected several of the 

statutory mitigating factors. Rather than saying something to 

the effect that it found no evidence of a particular factor, it 

found that not only did it not apply, the evidence showed to 

the contrary, that the defendant played a major role in the 

murder and that he had a clear, rational, "although evil, 

mind." That was error because the court converted mitigating 

circumstances, which are to be for the defendant's benefit, 

into nonstatutory aggravating factors. 
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ARGUMENT 

ISSUE I 

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING ARCHER'S MOTION 
FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL BECAUSE THE 
MURDER OF COKER WAS AN ACT INDEPENDENT OF 
THE AGREED UPON PLAN TO KILL WELLS. 

This issue is simple, but it requires a specific knowledge 

of the facts of the case in order to reach the proper 

resolution. Simply put, Archer, according only to Bonifay, 

contracted with the latter to kill Daniel Wells, an employee of 

Trout Auto Parts. To hide the assassination motive, Bonifay 

was to steal whatever money he could find from the cash till 

and night deposit box in the store (T 126). Archer, again 

according to Bonifay, wanted that man killed because  almost a 

year earlier he had had something to do with t h e  defendant's 

being fired from his job at the store (T 161). 

It is unknown if Bonifay knew Wells before the Friday in 

January in which he approached the store clerk, ostensibly to 

kill him. He intended to kill the putative victim that night 

because Archer had told him he would be working at the store as 

the night clerk (T 126). He apparently decided not to go 

through with the deed that night, b u t  what is important for 

this issue is that Wells turned to him sometime while Archer 

stood at the service window (T 129). Archer must have seen the 

man's face and otherwise noted his build and other distinctive 

features. 

This identification becomes crucial because when Bonifay 

returned to the parts store the next night, Wayne Coker, not 
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Wells, was on duty. Before killing Coker, Bonifay saw this man 

turn toward him, look at him, and tell him that he would "be 

right with you." (T 131) Bonifay shot the man because the 

victim had seen his face (T 131), so it stands to reason that 

he recognized that Coker was n o t  Wells. 

These facts are vitally important because Bonifay agreed 

that he would kill Wells. Archer was not willing to pay him 

$500,000 to kill who ever happened to be the night clerk on 

duty at Trout Auto Parts. Instead, he was to kill a specific, 

named person: Daniel Wells. The murder of Coker, therefore, 

was n o t  part of the common design or p l a n  of the two men. It 

was an independent act of their plan, and one for which Archer 

cannot be held accountable. 

The law in this area is simple. Defendants, as a matter 

of law, are not held accountable for the independent acts of 

their accomplices. Crimes become such if 1) they were 

committed by someone other than the defendant, 2 )  the defendant 

d i d  not participate in it, and 3 )  it was outside of and foreign 

to the common design of the defendants. Bryant v.  State, 412 

So.2d 347 (Fla. 1982). It is also important that the defendant 

was not present when the crimes charged were not committed. 

Id. - 
In Bryant, the question presented to this court was 

whether there was any evidence of an independent act of the 

co-defendant, Jackson, to justify instructing the jury on 

independent acts. Jackson had enlisted Bryant's assistance in 

burglarizing what the defendant thought was a vacant apartment, 
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Upon entering it, however, he saw the victim, naked and bound. 

Bryant retied the man, and after doing so, placed him on the 

bed in the room. He left the apartment 15 minutes later, at 

which time the victim was still alive and had not been 

sodomized. Two days later, Jackson gave Bryant his share of 

the money taken from the apartment. The victim's body was 

discovered, and it w a s  evident that it had been violently 

sexually battered. The cause of death was strangulation due to 

a necktie which had been tied around the victim's neck after 

Bryant left the room. 

This court, upon reviewing the case, agreed that the 

defendant was entitled to a jury instruction on independent 

acts. The evidence could have supported a jury finding that 

the victim was killed during the sexual battery and not the 

robbery. Because Bryant had not participated in the former 

crime, and it was outside the "common design of Jackson and 

Bryant to rob the victim" the jury could have found the 

defendant not guilty of the murder. The evidence could have 

further supported a jury finding that Bryant intended to 

participate only in the burglary and robbery but not the sexual 

battery. Hence what Jackson did was not part of what the two 

men had agreed upon. 

0 

On the other hand, this court rejected a similar argument 

in Parker v. State, 4 5 8  So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984). In that case, 

Tommy Groover killed Richard Padgett apparently because the 

latter had not paid him for some drugs he had fronted the 

victim. Parker was angry at Groover because the former had a 
-12- 



also not been paid for the drugs he had given to Groover, which 

he had given to Padgett. Not only was Parker upset, but he had 

threatened to kill Groover unless the debt was paid. Afraid of 

Parker's violent temper, especially because he also had guns, 
Groover found Padgett and killed him in Parker's presence. 7 

This court, while acknowledging the law on independent 

ac ts  articulated in Bryant, nevertheless said the court had not 

erred in denying the requested instruction. Parker had created 

the initial situation by threatening to kill Groover. Also, 

Parker was present when Padgett was killed. Finally, the rape 

in Bryant was not "inspired by the same criminal motivation 

which induced Bryant's participation in a burglary for 

pecuniary gain." - Id. at 752. 

Bryant and Parker have limited application to this case 

because in both of those cases, the men killed were the ones 

intended by the defendants who should be murdered. Not so 

here, and the crucial distinction between this case and the two 

this court has already decided is that Archer and Bonifay had 

agreed that a specific person, Daniel Wells, should be 

murdered. That was the common plan,  not that any clerk at the 

auto parts store should be killed. Thus, whatever intent 

Archer may have had to kill Wells, there is no evidence it 

'Padgett killed two other people the same night, but those 
murders are irrelevant to this issue. 
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extended to the murder of Coker. What Bonifay did, therefore, 

was independent of what the two men had agreed upon. 

In Bryant, the state argued that the defendant could be 

found guilty of the murder under a felony murder theory. This 

court rejected that argument because to be found guilty under 

that theory, the robbery had to "either cause[] or materially 

contribute[] to the victim's death." - Id. at 350. While a 

felon may be liable for the acts of his partners, such 

vicarious culpability arises only if there is some causal 

connection between the felony and the murder. - Id. 

In this case, Bonifay admittedly robbed Coker and stole 

money from the store, and arguably Archer could be found guilty 

of the murder of the victim under a felony murder theory. Yet, 

upon closer analysis, that claim of culpability cannot stand. 

Recall that Archer told Bonifay that he wanted Wells killed. 

To disguise that intent or purpose, Bonifay was to take 

whatever money he could find in the store, thus making the 

homicide appear as part of a robbery. In short the primary 

purpose of the criminal episode was to murder Wells, and the 

robbery was purely ancillary to that plan. Thus, when Bonifay 

killed Coker, not Wells, and then proceeded to take money from 

the store, the robbery was not part of the plan Archer had 

agreed upon. The robbery, instead of being a cover-up fo r  an 

assassination, became the primary motivation for killing the 

victim. 

Thusr the key fact in this case is that Archer and Bonifay 

agreed upon a p l a n  to kill Daniel Wells. When Bonifay murdered 
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Coker, knowing he was n o t  Wells, that homicide was not part of 

what Archer intended, and he cannot be h e l d  accountable for his 

co-defendant's unanticipated and unilateral changing of the 

deal .  

This court should reverse the trial court's judgment and 

sentence and remand fo r  further proceedings. 
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ISSUE I1

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