IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

 $[\mathbf{LE}]$ SID J. WHITE

MAY 11 1992

CLERK, SURREME COURT

By_ **Chief Deputy Clerk**

ROBIN LEE ARCHER,

r ¹

. .

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,701

-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Issue 1</u>: The specific arguments regarding the judgment of acquittal were not raised at the trial level and are waived. There is no merit to these arguments. There was sufficient evidence to convict Archer of both premeditated and felany murder. **Archer** planned to k 11 Wells and under the doctrine of transferred intent he is guilty of killing Coker. He planned the robbery and is guilty of the resulting homicide.

<u>Issue 2</u>: The murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel, The victim was shot twice in the chest. Four minutes elapsed before he was shot twice in the head. During this time he begged for his life and was aware of his impending death.

<u>Issue 3</u>: There was no objection to the jury being instructed on the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated and premeditated and this issue is waived. Even though Archer planned to kill Wells and Coker was killed, under the doctrine of transferred intent, this aggravating circumstance can be applied to the murder of Coker.

<u>Issue 4</u>: This issue has absolutely no merit. The trial court followed the guidelines established by this court in explaining his reasons for rejecting mitigating circumstances.

- 6 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AND THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Archer claims that since he contracted with Bonifay to kill Wells but Bonifay killed Coker and the robbery was ancillary to the murder of Coker, he cannot be convicted of either premeditated or felony murder and the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment of acquittal.

The theory of defense at trial was that Archer did not offer Bonifay money to kill Wells, knew nothing about the robbery, attempted murder or murder, and was framed because he would not take Bonifay to buy drugs. The arguments advanced on appeal were not raised at the trial level and this issue is not preserved for appellate review. <u>See</u>, <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So.2d **32 (Fla.** 1985); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

In moving for judgment of acquittal, defense counsel argued:

MR. LANG: Judge, I make a motion for directed verdict of acquittal. There's not been sufficient evidence to justify the charges made by the indictment. There's inadequate evidence been presented to the Court for the Court to make a finding of guilt based on the evidence that's been presented.

(**R** 260).

The motion was renewed after the state informed the court there was no rebuttal but no further grounds were advanced (R 363).

Even if this issue could be entertained on appeal, Archer When moving for a judgment of is not entitled to relief. acquittal the defendant admits all facts adduced in evidence and every conclusion favorable to the state. Ramos V. State, 505 So.2d 418, 420 (Fla. 1987); Spinkellink v. State, 313 So.2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975). Courts should not grant a motion for judgment of acquittal unless the evidence is such that no view the jury may lawfully take of it favorable to the opposite party can be sustained under the law. Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974); see also, State v. Law, 559 So.2d 187, 189 (Fla. 1989). Factual conflicts are to be resolved by the jury, and there was substantial competent evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilt as to both premeditated and felony murder. See, Gore v. State: 17 F.L.W. S247, 249 (Fla. April 16, 1992); Maquiera v. State, 588 So.2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1991).

Premeditated Murder

. . .

Archer admits he was not willing to pay Bonifay to kill whoever happened to be the night clerk at Trout Auto Parts; instead "he was to kill a specific, named person: Daniel Wells" (Initial Brief at 11). Archer claims, however, that Bonifay <u>knew</u> he was killing the wrong person so this is an independent act for which **Archer** cannot be held accountable. The record shows that Bonifay did not know Wells and did not know Coker was not the man he was supposed to kill. Bonifay did not know who the clerk was on Friday night and didn't know it wasn't the same man Saturday night (R 152-53). Bonifay had been in the auto part store once or twice a long time **ago** (R **128**). He had been in the W Street

- 8 -

store maybe once in the last five years (R 142). Although Archer claims Bonifay must have seen Wells' face and noticed his build, the record shows the Friday incident was extremely brief, Wells was behind a window at night, and stepped quickly behind the metal door after Bonifay entered (R 179-80).

Archer intended to kill Wells and set Bonifay in motion. Under the doctrine of transferred intent, the original malice can be transferred to the person who suffered the consequence of the act. <u>Provenzano v. State</u>, **497** So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986). A principal is responsible for all acts of his co-defendant. Fla, Stat. **777.011**; <u>Hall v. Wainwright</u>, **733** F.2d 766 (11th Cir. 1984); <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 323 So.2d 318, 320 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975). Archer is guilty of premeditated murder. <u>C.f.</u>, <u>Antone v. State</u>, **382** So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1980).

Furthermore, Archer was at the store one and one-half hours before the murder, knew Coker was the Saturday night clerk and that Bonifay was on his way to kill him thinking he was Wells. If he did not intend that Coker be killed, he could have warned **Coker** or stopped Bonifay.

Felony Murder.

• •

Archer told Bonifay to rob the store so it would not look like **a** "hit" and told him how to rob the store (R 126-29). He argues that the "robbery, instead of being a cover-up for an assassination, became the primary motivation for killing the victim" (Initial Brief at 14). Therefore, since his intent was to kill Wells, not **Coker**, the underlying purpose of the robbery was **defeated** and he cannot be guilty of felony murder. It is

- 9 -

irrelevant whether the robbery was the secondary or primary purpose. Intent to murder is not an element of robbery. Archer planned the robbery and set Bonifay about his business. The jury convicted Archer of robbery. Archer does not attack the robbery conviction. He is guilty of felony murder. <u>See</u>, <u>Parker v.</u> <u>State</u>, 458 So.2d 750, 753 (Fla. 1984); <u>State v. Dene</u>, 533 So.2d 265 (Fla. 1988); <u>C.f.</u>, <u>VanPoyck v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990).

• . . .

ISSUE 2

٠,

۰.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING, INSTRUCTING ON, AND THE OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS AND CRUEL. ERROR, IF ANY, WAS HARMLESS.

Archer claims the trial court erred in instructing the jury on heinous, atrocious and cruel and in finding this aggravating circumstance.

The aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel was established beyond a reasonable doubt. The victim was shot once from outside the window, once when Barth or Bonifay reached through the window, and twice as they were leaving the store. Approximately four minutes elapsed from the time the perpetrators went through the window and they left the store. During this time the victim lay on the floor with two bullets in his chest begging for his life.

This case is strikingly similar to <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Gaskin</u> this court found heinous, atrocious and cruel was established where the victim was shot twice after which the defendant entered through a window and shot her in the head at point blank range. The only difference is that Mr. Coker was begging for his life and calling out his children's names and ages when he was shot.

The simple fact that a victim is shot does not erase the mental anguish and terror **experienced** before the shooting. **Coker** was painfully aware of what was happening as he lay on the floor, heard Barth and Bonifay enter the store, and begged them to let him live. In <u>Routly v</u>. State, 440 So.2d 1257, 1265 (Fla. 1983),

- 11 -

this court cited six cases to illustrate that even if death is instantaneous, as by a qunshot wound, when victims are subjected to agony over the prospect that death is soon to occur, the murder is heinous, atrocious and cruel. In Huff v. State, 495 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1986), the defendant shot his mother and father from the back seat of a car. The murder was heinous because the evidence showed the father turned in his seat and placed his hands up in a defensive position, and the mother witnessed her husband being shot while knowing she was about to be killed. See also, Douglas v. State, 575 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991) (victim hit in head with rifle and shot); King v. State, 436 So.2d 50 (Fla. **1983)** (victim **struck** in forehead with blunt instrument then shot in head; Melendez v. State, 498 So.2d 1258 (Fla. 1986) (victim shot in head and shoulders and throat slit); Zeigler v. State, 402 So.2d 465 (Fla, 1981) (victim shot then struck in head with blunt instrument).

.

This court has repeatedly recognized mental anguish as supporting a finding of heinousness. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, **492 So.2d 360 (Fla. 1986);** <u>Francois v. State</u>, **407** So.2d **885** (Fla. 1981); <u>Adams v. State</u>, **412** So.2d **850 (Fla. 1982);** <u>Knight v. State</u>, **338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976).** Mental anguish alone has been held sufficient to support a finding of heinousness. Scott <u>v. State</u>, **494 So.2d 1134, 1137 (Fla. 1986),** <u>citing Preston v. State</u>, **444** So.2d **939 (Fla. 1984),** and <u>Routly</u>, <u>supra</u>. Archer's argument that the murder is not heinous because he did not intend for him to suffer, has no merit. <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, **578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1990).**

- 12 -

This court has never placed a time limit to qualify a murder as heinous. In <u>Hildwin v. State</u>, 531 So.2d **124**, 128 (Fla. 1988), the victim took several minutes to lose consciousness and was aware of her death. <u>Harvey v. State</u>, 529 So.2d **1083**, **1087** (Fla. **1988)**, involved **a** situation where elderly people were accosted in their home, became aware of their impending deaths, tried to run away, and were shot, In <u>Johnson v. State</u>, **497** So.2d **863**, **871** (Fla. **1986**), it took the helpless victim 3-5 minutes to die during which time **she** was in terror and experienced considerable pain. In <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 492 **So.2d** 1317, **1319** (Fla. 1986), this court rejected the argument that the murder was not heinous because death was instantaneous, observing that the appellant overlooked the events preceding the murder.

. . .

The question seems to be whether this court's reasoning in <u>Omelus v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 563 (Fla. 1991) precludes the application of heinous, atrocious and cruel to Archer. In <u>Omelus</u> the defendant contracted with a seasoned killer to murder the victim with a gun. The assailant used a knife instead, against the intent of the defendant. In the present case Archer placed a gun in the hands of a 17-year old who bumbled the first attempt, had to be pushed through the window, fumbled the padlocks, and proceeded to tell his friends about his adventures. Even the trial judge observed in his findings the murder was done in an "amateurish" fashion (R 545). Archer exhibited reckless disregard for the life of the victim and was indifferent to his suffering.

- 13 -

The focus should not be on whether the murderer <u>intends</u> the murder to be heinous, atrocious and cruel, it should be on whether the actual manner of death was heinous, atrocious and cruel. <u>See</u>, <u>Mason v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 374 (1983); <u>Hitchcock v.</u> <u>State</u>, 578 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1990). If the reasoning in <u>Omelus</u> is extended to every contract situation, a clever defendant can avoid the death penalty by hiring someone else, who may not otherwise be predisposed to murder but for the defendant, to insulate him from the consequences. The contractor is as responsible, if not more so, as the actual shooter since he sets the plan in motion.

.

• 1

The reasoning in Omelus cuts against the United States Supreme Court holding in Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 107 S.Ct. 137, 95 L.Ed.2d 127 (1987) in which the Court upheld a finding of heinousness even though defendants did not. specifically intend the victims die or actually pull the trigger. Id. at 143. The court stated that a narrow focus on the question of whether or not a defendant intended to kill was a highly unsatisfactory means of distinguishing the most culpable and dangerous of murderers. <u>Id</u>. at **157.** In fact, "reckless indifference to the value of human life may be every bit as shocking to the moral sense as an 'intent to kill"'. Id. at 157. Therefore, under Tison a defendant who was a major participant in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life could receive the death penalty. Id. at 158. Once the state proves heinous, atrocious and cruel, it should be applied to a co-defendant who is a major participant and shows

- 14 -

reckless indifference to human life. The state proved heinous, atrocious and cruel beyond a reasonable doubt and that Archer had a reckless disregard for the victim's suffering. "Reckless indifference'' should be the standard for applying this aggravating circumstance in a contract situation, not whether the defendant <u>intended</u> the murder to be heinous, atrocious and cruel. C<u>.f.</u>, <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1987); <u>VanPoyck v.</u> **State**, 564 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990).

The trial court found:

Nothing could be more heinous, atrocious, and cruel than the termination of an already severely wounded husband and father as he pled for his life. Nothing could be more torturous than to beg for mercy in the names of one's wife and children and ta die with the killer cursing their existence. Defendant, although not present at the killing, intended it to happen just as it did--the conscienceless and pitiless taking of a human life, the clerk he had targeted.

(R 544).

The trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence and should not be reversed.

Even if the heinous, atrocious aggravating circumstance were stricken, it would not change the outcome. The trial court weighed and considered the aqqravatinq and mitigating circumstances. There were three valid aggravating circumstances. The only statutory mitigating circumstance was "no significant history", the weight of which was diminished by Archer's admitted drug use. The only nonstatutory mitigating circumstance was that Archer was a good son and family member. This could hardly be considered substantially mitigating under the circumstances. See

Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127, 130 (Fla. 1991). Archer would have received the death penalty even if the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating circumstance were stricken. See, Maharaj v. State, 17 F.L.W. S201 (Fla. March 26, 1992); Robinson v. State, 574 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1991); Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1990); Rivera v. State, 545 So.2d 864 (Fla. 1989); Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d (Fla. 1988). See <u>also</u>, <u>Clemons</u> v. <u>Mississippi</u>, U.S. , 110 S.Ct. 1441, 108 L.Ed. 725 (1990). C.f., Happ v. State, 17 F.L.W. S68 (Fla. January 23, 1992); Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1991); Gore v. State, 17 F.L.W. S247, 249 (Fla. April 16, 1992); Reed v. State, 560 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1990); Rivera v. State, 561 So.2d 536 (Fla. 1990); Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla, 1988); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987).

<u>ISSUE 3</u>

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THE MURDER WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED; THIS ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

Archer claims he only premeditated the murder of Wells, not Coker, so the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated and premeditated cannot be applied. He concedes that "of course had Wells been killed, this aggravating factor would have applied to Archer" (Initial Brief at 23). This issue was never raised at the trial level and is not preserved for appellate review. <u>See</u>, <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1985); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Defense counsel did not object to the jury being instructed on the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstances (**R** 447, 482).

This same argument was raised in <u>Provenzano v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1986) and this court held:

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